FILED  
Court of Appeals  
Division II  
State of Washington  
9/17/2020 4:38 PM

FILED  
SUPREME COURT  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
9/18/2020  
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON  
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 99041-7  
(Court of Appeals No. 51734-5-II)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

SAMMY WEAVER,

Appellant.

---

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE  
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR MASON COUNTY

---

PETITION FOR REVIEW

---

DEVON KNOWLES  
Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT  
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610  
Seattle, WA 98101  
(206) 587-2711  
devon@washapp.org

**

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Sammy Weaver, Appellant, asks this Court to review the opinion of the Court of Appeals in *State v. Weaver*, No. 51734-5-II (filed August 18, 2020). A copy of the opinion is attached as an Appendix.<sup>1</sup>

B. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Due process demands that jury instructions, when read as a whole, correctly state the law and make the applicable legal standard “manifestly apparent to the average juror.” Instructions that relieve the State of its burden to prove an element of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt are presumed prejudicial, warranting reversal. In a case involving criminal trespass, is a significant question of law under the state and federal constitutions involved where the jury instruction defining “knowledge” conflicted with the to-convict instruction and relieved the State of its burden to prove Mr. Weaver knew his entry was unlawful?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In the early hours of August 19, 2017, Mr. Weaver left his friend’s home near Byerly Drive to go to a neighboring house party. 98, 102. Mr. Weaver’s motorcycle was recently stolen, and he heard that the person

---

<sup>1</sup> The original opinion was filed on November 5, 2019. Counsel moved for reconsideration, and the order on reconsideration was filed on August 18, 2020. The Appendix includes both the order on reconsideration and the opinion.

who took it was at the party. RP 98. When Mr. Weaver retrieved his motorcycle, the individual pursued him with a firearm. RP 99. Mr. Weaver attempted to call law enforcement for aid, but realized his phone was dead. RP 99. He was familiar with several people in the neighborhood and ran to the home of his friends, Phillip Sr. and Phillip Jr., not knowing they no longer lived there. RP 99. When he got there, he saw that the home was being remodeled, but believed that his friends still lived there and would return soon. RP 102. Mr. Weaver entered the residence and plugged in his phone. RP 101-02. He eventually fell asleep and awoke to law enforcement knocking and entering the home. RP 102.

The State charged Mr. Weaver with residential burglary. CP 6. At trial, Mr. Weaver acknowledged that he did not receive permission before entering the home and that he had not spoken with his friends in nine months to a year. RP 106-07, 109. Law enforcement opined that Mr. Weaver entered through an open window in the back of the residence. RP 86. However, Mr. Weaver testified the door was open, and he locked it after entering. RP 101-02.

Mr. Weaver was emphatic that, at the time he entered, he believed his friends still lived there, he previously spent time in the home, and his friends would have allowed him to enter. RP 101, 106-07. He stated that

he would not have gone in if he knew they no longer resided in the home.

RP 104.

By agreement of the parties, the jury was instructed on the lesser-included offense of criminal trespass in the first degree. RP 6-7.

Specifically, Jury Instruction No. 13 provided that,

To convict the defendant of the crime of criminal trespass in the first degree, each of the following elements of the crime must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt:

- (1) That on or about August 19, 2017, the defendant knowingly entered or remained in a building;
- (2) **That the defendant knew that the entry or remaining was unlawful;** and
- (3) That this act occurred in the State of Washington.

CP 47 (emphasis added). Instruction No. 14 supplemented the to-convict instruction, defining “knowledge” as,

A person knows or acts knowingly or with knowledge with respect to a fact, circumstance, or, result when he is aware of that fact, circumstance, or result. **It is not necessary that the person know that the fact, circumstance, or result is defined by law as being unlawful or an element of a crime.**

If a person has information that would lead a reasonable person in the same situation to believe that a fact exists, the jury is permitted but not required to find that he or she acted with knowledge of that fact.

CP 48 (emphasis added). The jury later acquitted Mr. Weaver of the residential burglary but convicted him of first-degree criminal trespass. CP 51-52.

The Court of Appeals affirmed.<sup>2</sup> Opinion at 1. In its initial opinion, the Court declined to consider Mr. Weaver's argument regarding the jury instructions, finding appellate counsel did not argue the issue was reviewable for the first time on appeal. Opinion at 6-7. The Court additionally found that Mr. Weaver was precluded from raising the instructional issue on appeal as trial counsel invited the error by proposing the to-convict instruction for the lesser-included offense of criminal trespass. Opinion at 7.

Mr. Weaver filed a Motion for Reconsideration, requesting the Court reconsider both bases for declining to review the erroneous jury instructions. The Court granted the motion in part, deleting the portion of the opinion stating that Mr. Weaver failed to RAP 2.5(3)(a) in his briefing. The order on reconsideration did not address Mr. Weaver's argument on the invited error doctrine.

---

<sup>2</sup> The Court of Appeals also affirmed the imposition of the victim penalty assessment. This petition does not address that portion of the ruling.



D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

**Conflicting jury instructions on knowledge relieved the State of its burden to prove Mr. Weaver knew his entry was unlawful, warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(3).**

- a. Due process requires that jury instruction be clear and correctly state the relevant law.

Due process demands that jury instructions, read as a whole, correctly state the relevant law. *State v. Kylo*, 166 Wn.2d 856, 864, 215 P.3d 177 (2009). Instructions that do not correctly inform the jury of the applicable law, mislead the jury, or do not permit the defendant to present his theory of the case fail to satisfy the constitutional demands of a fair trial. *State v. O’Hara*, 167 Wn.2d 91, 105, 217 P.3d 756 (2009) (citing *State v. Mills*, 154 Wn.2d 1, 7, 109 P.3d 415 (2005)). Moreover, instructions “must make the relevant legal standard manifestly apparent to the average juror.” *State v. Smith*, 174 Wn. App. 359, 369, 298 P.3d 785 (2013) (quoting *Kylo*, 166 Wn.2d at 864).

Clarity is critical, as jurors are not presumed to be legal experts and rely entirely on the plain language in the instructions to apply the law. Jury instructions must be read as a whole, and the jury is to presume that each instruction has meaning. *State v. McLoyd*, 87 Wn. App. 66, 71, 87 P.2d 1255 (1997) (internal citations omitted). “If the jury instructions read as a whole are [] ambiguous, the reviewing court cannot conclude that the

jury followed the constitutional rather than the unconstitutional interpretation.” *Id.* (citing *Sandstrom v. Montana*, 442 U.S. 510, 526, 99 S. Ct. 2450, 61 L. Ed. 2d 39 (1979)).

Jury instructions that can be construed as relieving the State of its burden to prove each element beyond a reasonable doubt violate due process. U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I, § 3. A challenge to such instructions presents an issue of manifest error of constitutional magnitude and may be raised for the first time on appeal under RAP 2.5(a)(3). *State v. Israel*, 113 Wn. App. 243, 265 n. 2, 54 P.3d 1218 (2002) (citing *State v. Stein*, 144 Wn.2d 236, 241, 27 P.3d 184 (2001)).

b. The jury instructions on trespass and knowledge contradicted each other and cannot be harmonized.

Read as a whole, the jury instructions in this case are contradictory, utterly confusing, and relieved the State of its burden to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Weaver knew his entry was unlawful. Jury Instruction No. 13 – the “to convict” instruction – requires the jury to find beyond a reasonable doubt that “**the defendant knew that the entry or remaining was unlawful.**” CP 47. This is followed immediately by Instruction No. 14, defining “knowledge” and informing the jury that “[i]t is not necessary that the person know that the fact, circumstance, or result is defined by law as being unlawful[.]” CP 48.

There is no way to reconcile these two instructions. The State was required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Weaver knew his entry was unlawful; Instruction No. 14 clearly told the jury this knowledge wasn't necessary.

That both instructions in this case were adopted verbatim from the Washington Pattern Jury Instructions does not render them immune from challenge. 11 Washington Practice: Washington Pattern Jury Instructions: Criminal 60.16 (4<sup>th</sup> Ed. 2016) (WPIC 60.16) (Criminal Trespass – First Degree – Elements); 11 Washington Practice: Washington Pattern Jury Instructions: Criminal 10.02 (4<sup>th</sup> Ed. 2016) (WPIC 10.02) (Knowledge – Knowingly – Definition). The pattern jury instructions “are not the law; they are merely persuasive authority.” *State v. Hayward*, 152 Wn. App. 632, 645-46, 217 P.3d 354 (2009) (citing *State v. Mills*, 116 Wn. App. 106, 116 n. 24, 64 P.3d 1253 (2003), *rev'd on other grounds*, 154 Wn.2d 1, 109 P.3d 415 (2005)). “Where a WPIC is in conflict with the applicable statute, the jury instruction must follow the statutory language.” *Hayward*, 152 Wn. App. at 646.

Even where the to-convict instruction properly recites the essential elements, an instruction that incorrectly defines an element may effectively relieve the State of its burden of proof. *See State v. Goble*, 131 Wn. App. 194, 203-04, 126 P.3d 831 (2005). In *Goble*, the trial court's to-

convict instruction on third-degree assault required the State to prove the defendant knew the victim was a police officer. *Id.* at 200. The court further instructed that knowledge “also is established if a person acts intentionally.” *Id.* at 202 (quoting WPIC 10.02). When read alongside the to-convict instruction, the court found the knowledge instruction “confusing” in that it permitted the jury to presume knowledge that the victim was a police officer if it found intent to assault, relieving the State of its burden of proof. *Id.* at 203-04.

Notably, the language at issue in this case is not within the main definition of “knowledge,” but is instead in the bracketed language of WPIC 10.02. The note on use states that bracketed material only should be used as applicable. The comment to the WPIC further explains the purpose of the bracketed language to state the rule that ignorance of the law is no excuse:

The committee believes that this sentence will assist the jury in understanding that the defendant must have knowledge of the facts, circumstances, or results that constitute a crime, rather than knowledge that the facts, circumstances, and results are a crime.

(citations omitted). Criminal trespass, however, is unique inasmuch as it *does* require an individual to know that the fact of their presence is unlawful, i.e. a crime. Therefore, the bracketed portion of the instruction is

not only inapplicable to criminal trespass, but also explicitly relieves the State of its burden to prove knowledge.

The Court of Appeals erred in refusing to review the argument because it was not raised under RAP 2.5(a)(3). Opinion at 6-7. It is unclear whether the Court's opinion on reconsideration – deleting the statement that Mr. Weaver failed to cite RAP 2.5(a)(3) – is actually a finding that the error was properly raised. However, beyond citing RAP 2.5(a)(3) in both the opening and reply briefs, counsel cited *State v. Israel*<sup>3</sup> and *State v. Ridgley*<sup>4</sup> in support of the argument that such errors may be raised for the first time on appeal. Supp. Br. of Appellant at 5 n. 1; Supp. Reply Br. of Appellant at 3-4. As RAP 2.5(a)(3) requires, Mr. Weaver “identif[ie]d the constitutional error” – an instruction that relieved the State of its burden – as well as its “practical and identifiable consequences” – the jury may have convicted Mr. Weaver without finding one of the essential elements. *State v Lamar*, 180 Wn.2d 576, 583, 327 P.3d 46 (2014); *see* Supp. Br. of App. at 1-8. The issue was properly before the Court of Appeals and is properly in front of this Court.

---

<sup>3</sup> 113 Wn. App. at 265 n. 2, 54 P.3d 1218 (2002).

<sup>4</sup> 141 Wn. App. 771, 779, 174 P.3d 105 (2007) (citing *Stein*, 144 Wn.2d at 241).

Contrary to the Court of Appeals' opinion, the invited error doctrine does not preclude review. As an initial matter, the record does not establish that defense counsel proposed the specific language in the to-convict instruction (Instruction No. 13). Both parties agreed that a lesser-included instruction was appropriate and, it was the State, and not defense counsel, that included the to-convict instruction in its proposed instructions to the court. RP 6-8.

More importantly, the to-convict instruction accurately recited the elements of the offense of criminal trespass. CP 47; RCW 9A.52.070(1). The source of the error was not the to-convict instruction, but the inclusion of WPIC 10.02's optional language in the definition of "knowledge" (Instruction No. 14), which was proposed by the State. *See* CP 48; RP 8. The invited error doctrine does not apply.

- c. The jury instructions relieved the State of its burden to prove knowledge of the unlawfulness, raising a significant question of law warranting review.

Proper consideration of the merits of Mr. Weaver's case requires reversal. Significantly, Division Three of this Court recently found reversible error in nearly identical circumstances. *State v. Gallegos*, No. 36387-2-III, 2020 WL 3430075, at \*7 (Wash. App. June 23, 2020)

(unpublished).<sup>5</sup> The jury instructions in *Gallegos* – a criminal trespass case – were the same as those given in Mr. Weaver’s case. *Id.* Although Mr. Gallegos did not challenge the jury instructions at trial, the court acknowledged it was an issue of manifest constitutional error that may be raised for the first time on appeal pursuant to RAP 2.5(a)(3). *Id.* at \*6. The State conceded that the jury instructions could not be reconciled as a defendant must have actual knowledge that the entry is unlawful. *Id.* at \*7. The court accepted the concession, concluding the jury instruction defining “knowingly” “relieved the State from the duty to prove an element.” *Id.*

Here, although not explicitly conceding the issue, the State did not address Mr. Weaver’s argument that the jury instructions relieved the State of its burden to prove the element. Suppl. Br. of Resp’t. 6-8. This is telling. At no point has Mr. Weaver’s argument been challenged, much less rejected.

As in *Gallegos*, this constitutional error was prejudicial in Mr. Weaver’s case. Constitutional errors are presumed prejudicial, and the State bears the burden of proving that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *Hayward*, 152 Wn. App. at 647; *see also Chapman v.*

---

<sup>5</sup> Unpublished opinions of the Court of Appeals filed on or after March 1, 2013, may be cited as persuasive authority pursuant to GR 14.1(a).

*California*, 386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S. Ct. 824, 17 L. Ed. 2d 705 (1967) (“Before a federal constitutional error can be held harmless, the court must be able to declare a belief that it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.”). Where an error involves “omissions or misstatements of elements in jury instructions, ‘the error is harmless if that element is supported by uncontroverted evidence.’” *Hayward*, 152 Wn. App. at 646-47 (quoting *State v. Thomas*, 150 Wn.2d 821, 845, 83 P.3d 970 (2004)). If the jury heard “conflicting evidence” on the element in question, a reviewing court will not “weigh the evidence on appeal.” *Israel*, 113 Wn. App. at 277; *see also Goble*, 131 Wn. App. at 203-04 (error was prejudicial “given the conflicting evidence.”).

Here, Mr. Weaver put forth evidence that he believed his friends still resided in the home and would have allowed him to enter. He was able to provide the names of his friends and testified that he visited the home in the past. RP 101, 110. The jury acquitted Mr. Weaver of the residential burglary, suggesting they found him credible, at least in part. While some of Mr. Weaver’s testimony conflicted with that of other witnesses, other portions were corroborated. The only contested issue for the jury was whether Mr. Weaver believed he was there lawfully. Given the conflicting evidence, the State cannot show that the instructional error



as to that very issue was harmless. The violation of Mr. Weaver's constitutional rights warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

E. CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, Sammy Weaver respectfully requests that this Court grant review.