FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/7/2021 4:52 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 99041-7

THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

V.

SAMMY WEAVER, APPELLANT

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MICHAEL DORCY Mason County Prosecuting Attorney

By
TIM HIGGS
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSBA #25919

521 N. Fourth Street PO Box 639 Shelton, WA 98584 PH: (360) 427-9670 ext. 417

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Weaver contends that review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(3), which states that this Court will accept review "if a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved[.]" Weaver contends that jury instructions numbers 13 and 14 are contradictory because number 13 includes as an element that Weaver knew his entry or remaining was unlawful, but number 14 states that he need not know that his acts are a crime. However, Weaver limits his contention of error to instruction number 14, stating that "[t]he source of the error was not the to-convict instruction, but the inclusion of WPIC 10.02's optional language in the definition of 'knowledge' (Instruction No. 14), which was proposed by the State." Petition for Review at 10.

In essence, Weaver contends that if he did not know that it is a criminal law violation to enter another person's house without license, invitation, or other privilege, then it is not a crime to so enter. Thus, he contends, jury instruction number 14 is erroneous because it is a misstatement of law to the extent that it states that "[i]t is not necessary that the person know that the fact, circumstance, or result is defined by

State's Answer to Petition for Review Case No. 99041-7

law as being unlawful or an element of a crime." CP 48. But Weaver cites no authority for his assertion that the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that he knew his act of entering another person's house without license, invitation, or other privilege is a criminal law violation.

But in any event, the jury received no instruction from the court regarding the statutory or common laws beyond those contained in the court's instructions. Within the four corners of the court's instructions, the jury was instructed that "[a] person enters or remains unlawfully in or upon premises when he is not then licensed, invited, or otherwise privileged to do so enter or remain." CP 42. In turn, jury instruction number 13, the to-convict instruction, included as an element that "the defendant knew that the entry or remaining was unlawful[.]" CP 47. Or, put another way, the court's instructions — which are the law of the case and are the only source of law the jury should consider — informed the jury that to be guilty of the crime of criminal trespass in the first degree, the jury must find that Weaver knew that his entry or remainder in the house was without license, invitation or other privilege.

Jury instruction number 14 merely clarified the other instructions and informed the jury that Weaver need not know that his act of entering

State's Answer to Petition for Review Case No. 99041-7

the house unlawfully, i.e., without license, invitation, or other privilege, is "defined by law as being unlawful or an element of a crime." CP 48.

F. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The trial court's instructions did not relieve the State from its burden of proving each element of the offense of criminal trespass in the first degree. Thus, this case does not present "a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved[,]" and, therefore, review should be denied under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

Respectfully submitted this 7th day of January, 2021.

MICHAEL DORCY

Mason County

Prosecuting Attorney

Tim Higgs

Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

WSBA #25919

State's Answer to Petition for Review Case No. 99041-7

MASON CO PROS ATY OFFICE

January 07, 2021 - 4:52 PM

Transmittal Information

Filed with Court: Supreme Court

Appellate Court Case Number: 99041-7

Appellate Court Case Title: State of Washington v. Sammy Burris Weaver

Superior Court Case Number: 17-1-00298-4

The following documents have been uploaded:

• 990417_Answer_Reply_20210107165123SC764636_3714.pdf

This File Contains:

Answer/Reply - Answer to Petition for Review

The Original File Name was 99041-7 --- State v. Weaver --- Answer to Petition for Review.pdf

A copy of the uploaded files will be sent to:

• devon@washapp.org

• wapofficemail@washapp.org

Comments:

Sender Name: Timothy Higgs - Email: timh@co.mason.wa.us

Address:

PO BOX 639

SHELTON, WA, 98584-0639

Phone: 360-427-9670 - Extension 417

Note: The Filing Id is 20210107165123SC764636